IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC02-627

ANTOINE L. McBRIDE,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida

Fifth District

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBIN A. COMPTON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0846864

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

After entering pleas of nolo contendere, Respondent was sentenced as an habitual offender on December 3, 1990, to thirty years imprisonment on each count for the offenses of attempted first degree murder with a firearm, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and robbery with a firearm. McBride v. State, 665 So.2d 329 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). He took no direct appeal. He has, however, filed several 3.800 motions to correct illegal sentence. He filed one on July 17, 1995, the second on November 6, 1997, the third on June 2, 2000, and his most recent 3.800(a) motion was filed on January 19, 2001, which is the subject of the instant case. (R2)

In his January 19, 2001 motion, McBride contends that he was illegally sentenced as an habitual felony offender for the life felony of attempted first degree murder. (R5-7, 11) His offense occurred on May 26, 1990. (R87-93) In its response, the State pointed out that the issue had previously been raised and conceded that McBride could not be habitualized for the life felonies of attempted first degree murder. (R15-16) On August 27, 2001, the trial court denied the motion, finding that McBride had previously raised the exact same issue in his June 2, 2000 motion which was denied on July 25, 2000. (R2-3) No appeal had been taken from the trial court's July 25, 2000

order. McBride did appeal the August 27, 2001 order denying the January 19, 2001 order to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. After requiring a response from the State, the Fifth District reversed on March 8, 2002, finding that the sentence imposed as an habitual offender for attempted first degree murder constitutes an illegal sentence because the habitual felony offender statute in effect at the time McBride committed the offense did not include life felonies within the offenses that qualified for an enhanced sentence under the statute. (R87-93) The district court further held that because McBride had failed to appeal the claim when he raised it in 2000, no appellate court had heard the claim and therefore the law of the case doctrine did not bar the claim from being heard in a successive 3.800(a) motion. (R87-93)

The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS A DEFENDANT ENTITLED TO RELIEF PURSUANT TO A SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.800(a) MOTION TO CORRECT AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE WHEN THE DEFENDANT RAISED THE IDENTICAL ISSUE IN A PRIOR RULE 3.800(a) MOTION THAT WAS DENIED BY THE TRIAL COURT BUT NEVER APPEALED TO THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL?

(R87-93) On March 11, 2002, the State filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. (R94-95) On March 25, 2002, this Court postponed its decision on

jurisdiction and ordered merits briefs to be filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Where a defendant raises an issue under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, the lower court denies relief and the defendant fails to appeal, he should not be allowed to later raise the same issue in a second 3.800 motion. It is successive, an abuse of the process, and a waste of judicial economy. McBride had his day in court, could have sought his remedy by filing an appeal, but failed to do so through his own fault. He should not be allowed to "restart" the clock on an appeal by starting all over raising the same issue previously raised.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

POINT ON REVIEW

A DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF PURSUANT TO A SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.800(a) MOTION TO CORRECT AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE WHEN THE DEFENDANT RAISED THE IDENTICAL ISSUE IN A PRIOR RULE 3.800(a) MOTION THAT WAS DENIED BY THE TRIAL COURT BUT NEVER APPEALED TO THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a), provides that a court may at any time correct an illegal sentence imposed by it. However, there is no specific provision, which bars the filing of successive motions. Barnes v. State, 661 So.2d 71 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). It must be noted, however, that a defendant is not entitled to successive review of a specific issue which has already been decided. Brazell v. State, 770 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

It is the State's position that McBride is not entitled to relief because he previously raised the exact identical issue in an earlier 3.800(a) motion and procedurally defaulted by failing to appeal the trial court's denial of that prior motion.

In *Price v. State*, 692 So.2d 971 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), the defendant filed a 3.800 motion where he alleged he was not given proper credit for jail time served in five lower court cases. He had previously raised the same argument regarding four out of the five cases and the trial court denied the motion as

successive and attached the earlier order denying relief. As in the instant case, Price did not appeal the earlier order denying relief. The district court affirmed in part, only reversing on the one lower court case which had not been previously raised in the earlier 3.800 motion. In affirming, the district court held that a defendant is not entitled to successive review of a specific issue which had already been decided against him. This Court should adopt the position of the Second District and hold in the instant case that even though the issue was not decided by an appellate court in the previous 3.800 motion, McBride is not entitled to successive review of the same issue.

In Smith v. State, 685 So.2d 912 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), the defendant attempted to seek a belated appeal of an order denying a 3.800 motion. As in the instant case, the defendant in Smith had already raised the same issue in a previous 3.800 motion and failed to appeal the order denying it. He then filed a successive 3.800 motion raising the same issue. The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that when a defendant raises an issue under the rule governing motions to correct sentence, the lower court denies relief and the defendant fails to appeal, the defendant may not later raise the same issue in another motion correct sentence. The instant case is indistinguishable from Smith.

Similarly, in Carson v. State, 747 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), rev. denied, 766 So.2d 220 (Fla. 2000), the defendant attempted to raise the same issue in a second motion to correct illegal sentence which had previously been raised on direct appeal and in a prior 3.800 motion which was dismissed on appeal. The district court held that the issue could not be raised again and to do so would subject Carson to sanctions.

It is an abuse of the process to continuously raise the same issues after they have been decided on the merits. Rooney v. State, 699 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). McBride's prior 3.800(a) motion filed in 2000 specifically addressed the same issue raised in the most current 3.800 motion. The trial court decided the issue on the merits. The trial court held that McBride was correct that his habitual felony offender sentence for the life felony was improper. However, it denied relief because he was properly sentenced to the same thirty years on the remaining two counts and because if McBride were to be resentenced, he would be facing a potential life sentence instead of the thirty years he received.

Through no fault of the state, McBride failed to appeal the denial of his 3.800 motion filed in 2000. It would be a total waste of resources and abusive to the trial courts to allow a

defendant to continuously file numerous 3.800(a) motions over and over again raising the same exact issue if it was never appealed. At some point enough is enough. Trial courts have better things to do than rehear the same issue just because the defendant failed to appeal it the first time it was denied.

The district court has confused waiver, resulting in a default, with the law of the case doctrine. Rather than deciding the issue based on "law of the case" as the district court did in the instant case, Petitioner urges this Court to consider "res judicata." Res judicata, translated from the Latin means "matter adjudged." Denson v. State, 775 So.2d 288, n.3 (Fla. 2000). The doctrine of res judicata provides that a final judgment on the merits is conclusive of the rights of the parties and constitutes a bar to a subsequent action or suit involving the same cause of action or subject matter. Id.

In Denson, supra, this Court denied the defendant's claim of an illegal sentence as procedurally barred because the claim had already been decided against him on the merits and he had exhausted all appropriate and timely appellate review. Just as McBride believes he can raise the same issue once again because a trial court may correct an illegal sentence at any time pursuant to 3.800(a), Denson argued that he was not barred from raising the claim again because it was fundamental error. This

Court explained:

Nevertheless, the concept of fundamental error was never intended to litigants with a means to circumvent the type of procedural bar that occurs when the exact claim has already been decided on the merits and is thus res judicata. For us to conclude otherwise would result in litigants being allowed to repeatedly raise issues that have already been decided on the merits simply by labeling them as "fundamental error." This would be a waste of our limited judicial resources. Therefore, fundamental error cannot be used to obtain additional consideration of claims that have already been decided on the merits and all direct appellate review has been exhausted.

Denson, at 290.

In the instant case, the issue had already been decided on the merits in 2000 by the trial court. The trial court agreed that the habitual offender sentence for the life felony was improper but denied relief anyway. McBride's remedy was to appeal the trial court's decision and he failed to do so. To allow a defendant to file the same motion with the trial court again in order to get to the appellate court circumvents the entire purpose behind having Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) which requires that a notice of appeal be filed within 30 days. There should be no exceptions.

In federal court, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. section 2254(b), a court may not grant an application for a writ of habeas corpus

on behalf of a person in state custody unless the Petitioner has exhausted the remedies available in state court first. satisfy the exhaustion requirement, a state prisoner must have presented the state courts with the same factual and legal claims that are asserted in the federal petition. Connor, 404 U.S. 270 (1971). If a defendant such as McBride failed to appeal to the highest state court, his claim would be barred on habeas review because he failed to exhaust his claim and procedurally defaulted. See Leonard v. Wainwright, 601 F.2d 807, 808 (5th Cir. 1979)(exhaustion requires not only the filing of a rule 3.850 motion, but an appeal of its denial); see also Farrell v. Lane, 939 F.2d 409, 411 (7th Cir. 1991)(the petitioner waived his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, which was presented in a post conviction petition, for purposes of habeas review by failing to appeal the denial of the post conviction petition); Smith v. Jones, 923 F.2d 588 (8th Cir. 1991)(claims presented in post conviction motion and not appealed were procedurally barred in subsequent habeas proceedings).

A defendant in federal court who raises claims in his federal habeas petition but fails to appeal in state court, has defaulted as to those claims and is procedurally barred from raising them on federal habeas review. *Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722 (1991). While the claims are technically unexhausted,

the defendant would be barred from raising them in state court because the time for filing his or her appeal (30 days) would have long expired or because the defendant had an appeal and is not entitled to a second appeal. *Id*.

In Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S. 509 (1982), the purpose of exhaustion as it pertains to state court was discussed:

exhaustion doctrine is principally designed to protect the state courts' role in the enforcement of federal law and prevent disruption οf state judicial proceedings. Under our federal system, the federal and state "courts [are] equally bound to guard and protect rights secured by the Constitution." Because "it would be unseemly in our dual system of government for a federal district court to upset a court conviction without opportunity to the state courts to correct a constitutional violation," federal courts apply the doctrine of comity, which "teaches that one court should defer action on causes properly within its jurisdiction until the courts οf another sovereignty concurrent powers, and already cognizant of the litigation, have had an opportunity to pass upon the matter."

Rose v. Lundy, 455 at 514. (Citations omitted)

This Court should follow the reasoning of the federal courts and not allow defendants such as McBride to repeatedly raise an issue that has clearly been procedurally defaulted.

Clearly, McBride knew how to file an appeal as he had filed so many. To give him a "second bite of the apple" is unfair to

both the state and the trial court who expended the time already in a previous motion.

Frivolous successive collateral attacks on criminal convictions and sentences unnecessarily burden the appellate process and cannot be tolerated.

Pinkney v. State, 682 So.2d 1182, 1184 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).

The matter in the instant case should have been cleared up previously. McBride has given no reason for the court to relieve him of his own procedural default. He had a remedy and failed to pursue it thus waiving the instant claim for later review. Section 924.051(8), Florida Statutes, provides:

It is the intent of the Legislature that all terms and conditions of direct appeal and collateral review be strictly enforced, including the application of procedural bars, to ensure that all claims of error are raised and resolved at the first opportunity. It is also the Legislature's intent that all procedural bars to direct appeal and collateral review be fully enforced by the courts of this state.

(Emphasis added) This Court should put a stop to the endless successive filings of collateral motions by defendants. Judicial economy requires it. Judicial caseloads are never reduced but are constantly on the rise. Numerous hours have now been unnecessarily spent on this case alone by judges,

attorneys, clerks, staff, and now justices, all because McBride failed to appeal a prior ruling. Appellate rules are meaningless for 3.800(a) motions if a defendant such as McBride is allowed to file motion after motion in the trial court raising the same issue over and over again until it is appealed at the time of his choosing. That is ridiculous. Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) and 9.140(b)(3) require that a notice of appeal be filed within 30 days. Failing to file within that 30 day time period is a procedural default. The clock should not be restarted. This Court should answer the certified question in the negative.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Petitioner requests this honorable Court to answer the certified question in the negative and hold that a defendant is **not** entitled to relief pursuant to a successive rule 3.800(a) motion to correct an illegal sentence when the defendant raised the identical issue in a prior rule 3.800(a) motion that was denied by the trial court but never appealed to the district court of appeal.