IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-627

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ANTOINE L. McBRIDE

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of a Post-Conviction Judgment and Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF

BEVERLY A. POHL BRUCE ROGOW BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre 500 East Broward Blvd., Ste. 1930 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 (954) 767-8909

Counsel for Antoine L. McBride

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

it." *Id*. (citation omitted). Florida rules and law do not impose a procedural bar in this case.

The State's argument that McBride's claim is barred under the doctrine of res judicata was not raised in the circuit court or the district court, and is therefore waived. Nonetheless, the State's argument is incorrect because Florida law does not apply res judicata to unappealed denials of prior Rule 3.800 motions. And, the State's reliance on the procedural default principles in federal habeas corpus cases, under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, is unpersuasive, because none of the State's cited federal cases involve a claim that a sentence was patently illegal and unauthorized by law, and the federal statutory procedural default rules have no counterpart in Rule 3.800. In contrast to the State's cited cases, federal decisions construing former Rule 35(a), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which contained an identical provision that relief for an illegal sentence may be granted "at any time," do provide guidance, and generally reject the notion that successive motions under that rule are barred by res judicata.

Therefore, despite the fact that McBride did not appeal the prior denial of the same post-conviction illegal sentence claim, there is no procedural bar to relief and the district court correctly concluded that the challenged habitual felony offender sentence must be reversed and that McBride must be resentenced.

ARGUMENT

AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE IS NOT SUBJECT TO A PROCEDURAL DEFAULT

The necessarily correct result of this case – approval of the decision below – flows inexorably from the undisputed premise that Antoine McBride's habitual felony offender sentence for attempted first degree murder is an "illegal sentence," a term that has a special, narrow meaning in Florida law.

This Court has recently adopted the definition of an illegal sentence as one that "'imposes a kind of punishment that no judge under the entire body of sentencing statutes could possibly inflict under any set of factual circumstances.'" *Carter v. State*, 786 So. 2d 1173, 1181 (Fla. 2001) (*quoting Blakley v. State*, 746 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)). *Carter* also held that an habitual felony offender sentence for a life felony, imposed at a time when the statute did not provide for habitualization of life felonies [as in McBride's case], constitutes an illegal sentence correctable through Rule 3.800(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. *Carter*, 786 So. 2d at 1180.

Despite the State's concession that McBride's sentence is "illegal" under this Court's narrow definition, the State asks this Court to deny him relief, arguing that McBride's motion raising a previously denied-and-unappealed claim is "an *abuse of* the process, and a waste of judicial economy," ... "a total waste of resources and *abusive* to trial courts" ... and that "[t]rial courts have *better things to do*" Initial Brief, pp. 3, 6 (emphasis supplied). Those harsh characterizations are unfounded, in fact and law.³

The State argues that relief should be denied because McBride "procedurally defaulted by failing to appeal the trial court's denial of [his] prior motion." Initial Brief, p. 4. The question of whether a procedural bar was properly applied is a matter of law entitled to *de novo* review. *Compare West v. State*, 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) ("Because West is challenging the finding of a procedural bar, our standard of review is de novo"). In fact, since Rule 3.800 motions are limited to sentencing issues that can be resolved as a matter of law without an evidentiary determination, *State v. Callaway*, 658 So. 2d 983, 988 (Fla. 1995), *receded from on other grounds, Dixon v. State*, 730 So.2d 265 (Fla.1999), any issues relating to the grant or denial of a Rule 3.800 motion are entitled to *de novo* review. *Cf. State v. Nuckolls*, 677 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) ("The issues in this case revolve around

³ We have found no reported case in which an appellate court has held that a *meritorious* motion to vacate an illegal sentence, even a successive motion, was an abuse of process or a "waste of judicial economy."

the legal sufficiency of the pleadings and therefore we review *de novo* the trial court's ruling").

The concept of "procedural default" is familiar in the post-conviction context, but inapplicable here. There are two kinds of procedural defaults: "A defendant who did present an issue on direct appeal cannot raise the same issue again in a subsequent postconviction motion, because the decision of the appellate court is the law of the case." Moore v. State, 768 So. 2d 1140, 1141 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). "In contrast, a defendant who did not present an issue on direct appeal when a remedy was then available, cannot raise the issue in a subsequent postconviction motion, because the right to present the issue is waived." Id. Since McBride did not take a direct appeal, or appeal the denial of his prior Rule 3.800 motion, it is the latter, waiver doctrine that the State seeks to invoke. See Initial Brief, p. 10 ("He had a remedy and failed to pursue it thus waiving the instant claim for later review."). However, in the context of an undisputed claim that a sentence is truly "illegal," the procedural default waiver doctrine does not apply.

The eloquent words of Fifth District Court of Appeal Judge Joe Cowart, Jr. illustrate why the State's position is untenable, as a matter of fundamental fairness and public policy:

"All persons in prison under a sentence for the commission of a crime are there because the judicial system declared they did not follow and obey the law but, to the contrary, they did an illegal act. Certainly in imposing the sanctions of the law upon a defendant for illegal conduct *the judicial system itself must follow and obey the law and not impose an illegal sentence, and, when one is discovered, the system should willingly remedy it.* The purpose of all criminal justice rules, practices and procedures is to secure the just determination of every case in accordance with the substantive law. While imperfect, our criminal justice *system must provide [a] remedy to one in confinement under an illegal sentence*. There is no better objective than to seek to do justice to an imprisoned person."

Raley v. State, 675 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 5th DCA) (*quoting Hayes v. State*, 598 So. 2d 135, 138 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (Cowart, J.), *appeal dismissed* 683 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1996) (emphasis supplied).

Rule 3.800(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides the remedy Judge Cowart spoke of in *Hayes v. State*, and provides, in pertinent part, that "[a] court may *at any time* correct an illegal sentence" (emphasis supplied). The rule "is intended to balance the need for finality of convictions and sentences with the goal of ensuring that criminal defendants do not serve sentences imposed contrary to the requirements of law." *Carter v. State, supra*, 786 So. 2d at 1176; *see also Judge v. State*, 596 So. 2d 73, 77 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (*en banc*) ("Rule 3.800(a) is intended

to provide relief for a narrow category of cases in which the sentence imposes a penalty that is simply not authorized by law").

As the State recognizes (Initial Brief at 4), Rule 3.800(a) contains no prohibition upon successive motions, and courts have recognized that successive motions under Rule 3.800(a) are permissible. *See Raley, supra*, 675 So. 2d at 173; *Barnes v. State*, 661 So. 2d 71 n. 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). In sum, there are no statutory or jurisprudential barriers to remedying a truly illegal sentence:

> We give an unlimited time to defendants to discover these errors because it would be fundamentally unfair in a country governed by the rule of law to permit a person to remain in jail beyond the time that such rule allows. . . . *There is no reason for the state to impose arbitrary barriers against prisoners who wish to challenge sentences that are truly illegal*.

Brown v. State, 633 So. 2d 112, 116 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (Altenbernd, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (emphasis supplied).

The cases relied upon by the State in support of its "procedural default" argument are unpersuasive. *Price v. State*, 692 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), involving a post-conviction claim for credit for time spent in jail prior to the imposition of sentence, held that "a defendant is not entitled to successive review of a specific issue which has already been decided against him." *Id.* at 971. *Price* was decided prior to this Court's decision in *State v. Mancino*, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998), which

held that a claim of credit for jail time served was cognizable in a Rule 3.800 motion, and, the opinion in *Price* is devoid of reasoning for its conclusion. *Price* does not discuss whether or not the defendant's jail time credit claims had merit, or whether that factor should affect the application of a procedural bar. Thus, *Price* should not persuade this Court to overlook the acknowledged merit of McBride's claim, or the extensive analysis of the decision below.

Nor does Smith v. State, 685 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), which the State describes as "virtually indistinguishable" from this case (Initial Brief, p. 5), undermine the decision below. In *Smith*, involving a claim for gain time credit, Judge Griffin (who dissented below, in this case), writing for the court, refused to consider a claim that had been previously denied and not appealed. *Id.* However, the *Smith* court found that gain time credit claims could be presented directly to the Department of Corrections or in a petition for writ of habeas corpus. *Id.* at 13. Thus, the availability of those alternative remedies ameliorated the ban imposed by that court on appellate review of the denial of a successive Rule 3.800 motion seeking additional gain time. In a case such as this one, where an admitted illegal sentence has been imposed by the sentencing court, and where *no* administrative remedy is available, *Smith* is unduly restrictive and inconsistent with the plain language of Rule 3.800(a) ("[a] court may at any time correct an illegal sentence. . . . "). Significantly, in McBride's case, Judge Griffin's view (that a prior unappealed claim bars a later motion raising the same claim) did not command a majority of the panel. This Court should similarly reject the view that a concededly meritorious Rule 3.800(a) motion is subject to a procedural bar.

The State also cites *Carson v. State*, 747 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) (Initial Brief, pp. 5-6), but that case is distinguishable on two grounds. First, the defendant's post-conviction sentencing issue had been raised and rejected on direct appeal. And second, unlike this case, "the sentences Carson received are not illegal." 747 So. 2d at 1003. The court below recognized that illegal sentence claims that are decided adversely to a defendant *by an appellate court* are barred under the law of the case doctrine. R-90-92;*McBride*, 810 So. 2d at 1022-1023; State's Appendix, pp. 4-5. We do not dispute that conclusion, which explains the result in *Carson*, as well as in *Rooney v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (claims of trial error had been raised and rejected on direct appeal; procedurally barred post-conviction claims did not include a claim that the sentence was illegal) (*see* Initial Brief p. 6).

The State seeks to avoid the "law of the case" doctrine, which in this case favors McBride, by arguing that a post-conviction claim that is denied, but not appealed, becomes *res judicata* between the parties, and under that principle a subsequent motion raising the same claim is precluded. Initial Brief, pp. 6-8; *see Denson v. State*, 775 So. 2d 288, 290 n. 3 (Fla. 2000) (defining and discussing the

term *res judicata*, which ensures finality when a final judgment is conclusive of the rights of the parties). ⁴

We first note that this argument – casting a post-conviction procedural bar in *res judicata* terms – was not raised by the State in the trial court nor in the district court of appeal. R-17; R-33. Typically, arguments not made in the trial court are deemed waived. *See Morrison v. State*, _____ So. 2d ____, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S253 (Fla. 2002):

Ford v. State, 667 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (emphasis supplied).

⁴ We observe that, in another case, the State has recognized that an unappealed trial court order, rejecting a defendant's claim that his sentence was illegal, was not *res judicata*:

This appeal is defendant's second appeal from denial of a 3.800 motion. Defendant's initial appeal was dismissed as untimely and thus there was not adjudication on the merits. As to this second motion, the state argued to the trial court that defendant's motion was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* and the trial court agreed. *However, the state now acknowledges that because an illegal sentence can be corrected an any time, a successive motion was not barred*.

In order to preserve the issue for appellate review, a party must have made the *same argument* to the trial court that it raises on appeal. *See Archer v. State*, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla.1993) (stating the issue "must be presented to the lower court and the *specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved*"); *see also Woods v. State*, 733 So.2d 980, 984 (Fla.1999); *Tillman v. State*, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla.1985); *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla.1982). Because Morrison did not argue the point he now raises below, he is *foreclosed* from raising that argument here.

(emphasis supplied). Although *Morrison* and the authorities cited therein would appear to foreclose the State's new *res judicata* argument, the argument would be meritless even if properly preserved.

The State relies upon *Denson v. State*, 775 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2000), where this Court rejected a habeas corpus claim that a fundamental error in sentencing could trump a procedural bar. However, unlike this case, Denson's claims had been previously decided adversely to him *by an appellate court*, not merely by a trial court order. *Id.* at 289. This Court held that "fundamental error cannot be used to obtain additional consideration of claims that have already been decided on the merits *and all direct appellate review has been exhausted*." *Id.* at 290 (emphasis supplied). Since Denson had "exhausted all appropriate and timely appellate review," 775 So. 2d at 290, *Denson* is not controlling here, where McBride's meritorious claim that his sentence is illegal has not been previously presented to or rejected by an appellate court. The only decisions to employ the term *res judicata* in the context of a motion to correct an illegal sentence involved claims that had been decided against the defendants by an appellate court. *See Isom v. State*, 800 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001); *Rubalcaba v. State*, 729 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). Those cases, like *Denson*, are therefore distinguishable, and not controlling. *Res judicata* does not apply.

The State's final argument is that the procedural default principles that govern federal habeas corpus review of state court convictions, under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, somehow counsel against a Florida court correcting a Florida sentence that is admittedly patently illegal under Florida law. *See* Initial Brief pp. 8-10. The attempted analogy is inapt, for numerous reasons.

First, *none* of the federal cases cited by the State involve a claim that a sentence was illegal. Second, the procedural requirements of federal habeas corpus proceedings are purely statutory, and have no counterpart in the Florida statutes and rules of procedure, which govern this case. ⁵ Indeed, unlike 28 U.S.C. § 2254, upon

⁵ The State suggests that Section 924.051(8), Florida Statutes, providing for strict enforcement of all procedural bars in criminal appellate and collateral criminal proceedings, supports the State's argument. (Initial Brief, pp. 10-11). That statute begs the question, however, of whether a procedural bar *exists* in the factual and

which the State relies, Rule 3.800(a) authorizes relief "at any time." And third, the reason that 28 U.S.C. § 2254 requires exhaustion of state remedies before a federal habeas corpus remedy may be invoked to correct an alleged error of federal law is the careful balance of power between federal and state government, and Congress' recognition that state courts, like federal courts, are competent to decide issues of federal law. See generally Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000) (discussing the increasingly limited role of federal habeas courts in reviewing state court convictions, under the 1996 Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act, amending 28 U.S.C. § 2254). Those federalism concerns play *no* part in deciding whether a Florida trial court's previously unappealed denial of a post-conviction motion should operate as a procedural bar to Florida appellate review of a subsequent motion alleging again (properly, in this case), that a defendant's sentence is "illegal." Thus, the State's discussion of federal habeas procedural default cases is simply inapposite.

However, analogies to federal law may at times inform this Court's application of its own rules of procedure. *See Dinter v. Brewer*, 420 So. 2d 932, 934 n. 2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) ("Decisions and commentaries under the federal rules are persuasive

procedural posture of this case.

guidelines to the interpretation of state rules closely patterned thereon."). A useful analogy is found in cases involving the former Rule 35(a), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which then provided (like Rule 3.800(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, now provides), that "the court may correct an illegal sentence at any time.

...." 6

For example, in *Ekberg v. United States*, 167 F.2d 380 (1st Cir. 1948), the court

observed that res judicata concepts did not bar relief in a successive Rule 35 motion

alleging that a sentence was illegal:

Since under Rule 35, the sentencing court may correct an illegal sentence "at any time," . . . we think it clear that the court below would have had power to entertain and grant Ekberg's second motion, notwithstanding its denial of the earlier motion to the same effect, assuming the motion was a meritorious one. If convinced of its previous error, the sentencing court should have continuing power to correct its own illegal sentence. . . . The rule of res judicata is not in all strictness applied in habeas corpus cases. A judge is not precluded from entertaining the petition for habeas corpus and disposing of it on the merits, even though the same point had been ruled adversely to the petitioner in a previous habeas corpus proceeding. . . . A fortiori a ruling by the trial judge, at an earlier stage of the same criminal proceeding, on a motion to correct a sentence, does not operate as res judicata.

⁶ Rule 35 was amended effective November 1, 1987 (Pub.L. 98-473), and no longer contains that language.

167 F.2d at 384 (emphasis supplied); *accord United States v. Quon*, 241 F.2d 161, 163 (2d Cir. 1957) ("We agree with the *Ekberg* decision"); *see also United States v. Mazak*, 789 F.2d 580 (7th Cir. 1986) ("Rule 35(a), in allowing correction of an illegal sentence at any time, has been held to permit successive motions without encountering the bar of res judicata") (citing cases); *United States v. Savely*, 814 F. Supp. 1519, 1523-1524 (D. Kan. 1993) (there are "no procedural barriers under Rule 35(a)").⁷

Similarly, in *Heflin v. United States*, 358 U.S. 415, 79 S. Ct. 451, 3 L.Ed.2d 407 (1959), a federal prisoner brought a post-conviction claim under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, which then contained a provision that "a motion for such relief may be made at any time." The Supreme Court granted relief, and in a concurring opinion joined by five members of the Court, discussing Section 2255, Justice Stewart wrote that "[t]his latter provision ["at any time"] simply means that . . . there is no statute of

⁷ We acknowledge the contrary minority view of the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in *United States v. Kress*, 944 F.2d 155 (3d Cir. 1991), which found a successive Rule 35 motion challenging the legality of the rate of interest imposed on a restitution judgment to be barred under the doctrine of *res judicata*. *Id*. at 161-162. However, the issue before that court was not as compelling as the sentence here, which the State has acknowledged is illegal, and which imposes additional incarceration, not additional restitution. Thus, *Kress* is not persuasive in this case.

limitations, *no res judicata*, and that the doctrine of laches is inapplicable." 358 U.S. at 420, 79 S. Ct. at 454 (Stewart, J., concurring) (emphasis supplied).

The foregoing federal Rule 35 cases are consistent with the decision below and with existing Florida law, which allows the doctrine of law of the case to operate as a procedural bar if a claim of an illegal sentence has been raised and rejected by an *appellate* court (see R-90-91), but which does not apply the doctrine of res judicata to preclude a meritorious claim of an illegal sentence simply because it has been denied previously by a trial court. See Ford v. State, footnote 4, supra. Indeed, the State's arguments are unsupportable by precedent. See Lawton v. State, 731 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), where the State *conceded* that a trial court's erroneous denial of a successive but meritorious motion to correct an illegal sentence was a *denial of* substantive due process, and the district court of appeal reversed the denial of relief, holding that any other result would be a "manifest injustice." 731 So. 2d at 61. See also Crotts v. State, 795 So. 2d 1020, 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) ("substantive due process requires that a patently illegal sentence be corrected despite the law-of-thecase doctrine") (citing Lawton).

In this case, the State steadfastly insists that a procedural default warrants the denial of relief, despite the fact that under *Carter v. State*, 786 So. 2d 1173, McBride's habitual offender sentence "imposes a kind of punishment that no judge under the

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